FILED
MAR 29 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court No. 14305-2 COA No. 73904-2-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

FILED
Mar 24, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

CLIFTON EUGENE TURNER,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Clifton Turner was convicted of two counts of second degree child molestation based on allegations involving his girlfriend's daughter, M.L. 6/23/15RP 64; CP 27.

At trial, M.L. said that during her sophomore year in high school, she started skipping school, doing drugs, and drinking alcohol. 6/23/15RP 113.

Defense counsel objected, arguing the State could not present evidence that M.L. suffered from symptoms of PTSD unless the State presented expert testimony to tie M.L.'s symptoms to the allegations of abuse. 6/23/15RP 114-15. After all, M.L. did not start experiencing those symptoms until at least a year and a half after the alleged abuse had stopped. 6/23/15RP 115. Counsel argued a layperson could not testify that M.L.'s troubling behavior, especially when it occurred so long after the fact, was connected to sexual abuse. 6/23/15RP 114.

The court ruled M.L. could testify about her feelings and behavior, as long as the prosecutor did not ask questions that would lead to a medical conclusion. 6/23/15RP 117.

Thus, M.L. testified that, at the beginning of her sophomore year, she began engaging in troubling behavior. She quit playing

softball. 6/23/15RP 118. She started using marijuana and drinking alcohol every day. Before that, she had used marijuana only occasionally and did not drink. 6/23/15RP 119, 175. She became depressed and suicidal and was admitted to the hospital a couple of times for suicidal ideation. 6/23/15RP 119-20. She started burning and cutting herself. 6/23/15RP 120.

M.L.'s Aunt Denise testified that after M.L. disclosed sexual abuse, she started skipping school, drinking alcohol, and smoking marijuana. 6/24/15RP 304-05. She used to have a lot of friends but no longer does. 6/24/15RP 304. She started cutting her arms, pulling her hair out, and saying she wanted to kill herself. 6/24/15RP 304.

No expert testimony was presented to explain why or how these symptoms could have been caused by sexual abuse.

At sentencing, the court imposed a sentence based upon an offender score of five. CP 29.

Turner appealed, arguing the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of PTSD without expert testimony.¹

Turner also challenged some conditions of community custody. The Court of Appeals vacated two conditions of community custody. That aspect of the Court of Appeals' opinion is not at issue in this petition.

Turner filed a *pro se* statement of additional grounds for review challenging the trial court's calculation of the offender score. The Court of Appeals ordered the State to respond to Turner's statement of additional grounds for review.

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion affirming the trial court's decision to admit evidence of PTSD. Slip Op. at 3. The court also held the trial court properly determined the offender score but remanded to the trial court with instructions that the court correct the judgment and sentence to correctly reflect the criminal history used to calculate that score. Slip Op. at 11.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Review is warranted because the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of M.L.'s symptoms of PTSD in the absence of the necessary expert testimony to explain the nexus between the alleged symptoms and the allegations of sexual abuse.

Expert testimony was necessary to explain M.L.'s purported symptoms of PTSD and establish any nexus between them and the underlying allegations of abuse. The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to require the State to present expert testimony regarding M.L.'s supposed mental disorder.

M.L. and her Aunt Denise testified M.L. started exhibiting troubling behaviors long after the alleged incidents of sexual abuse had stopped. M.L. started skipping school, doing drugs, and drinking alcohol in her sophomore year of high school. 6/23/15RP 113. She lost friends. 6/24/15RP 304. She became depressed and suicidal. 6/23/15RP 119-20; 6/24/15RP 304. She started burning and cutting herself. 6/23/15RP 120. These behaviors were uncharacteristic of her. 6/23/15RP 119, 175.

The State presented this evidence of M.L.'s downward spiral as proof of the underlying allegations of sexual abuse. 6/23/15RP 115-16. Yet the State did not present any expert testimony to explain how or why a person could start experiencing such symptoms of PTSD so long after the alleged traumatic event had ended. PTSD is a mental disorder that is beyond the understanding of an ordinary layperson.

A lay witness may not express an opinion as to matters that are beyond the realm of common experience and that require the special skill and knowledge of an expert witness. Randolph v. Collectramatic, Inc., 590 F.2d 844, 846-47 (10th Cir. 1979). "[W]here the Topic requires special experience, only the testimony of a person of that special experience will be received." Id. (citation omitted).

Thus, if a party wishes to present evidence regarding matters outside the realm of common experience, it must do so through the testimony of an expert. Under ER 702, expert testimony is admissible "[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." ER 702. Expert testimony is admissible under ER 702 if it will be helpful to the jury in understanding matters outside the competence of ordinary lay persons. State v. Green, 182 Wn. App. 133, 146, 328 P.3d 988, review denied, 337 P.3d 325 (2014).

Washington courts recognize that mental disorders—specifically PTSD—are beyond the understanding of ordinary lay persons. <u>Id.</u> at 146-47 (citing <u>State v. Janes</u>, 121 Wn.2d 220, 236, 850 P.2d 495 (1993); <u>State v. Ciskie</u>, 110 Wn.2d 263, 273-74, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988); <u>State v. Allery</u>, 101 Wn.2d 591, 597, 682 P.2d 312 (1984); <u>State v. Bottrell</u>, 103 Wn. App. 706, 717, 14 P.3d 164 (2000)).

Washington case law also acknowledges that PTSD is a mental disorder recognized within the scientific and psychiatric communities.

Bottrell, 103 Wn. App. at 717. According to the American Psychiatric Association, the essential feature of PTSD is

"the development of characteristic symptoms following exposure to an extreme traumatic stressor involving

direct personal experience of an event that involves actual or threatened death or serious injury, or other threat to one's physical integrity; or witnessing an event that involves death, injury, or a threat to the physical integrity of another person; or learning about unexpected or violent death, serious harm, or threat of death or injury experienced by a family member or other close associate."

American Psychiatric Association, <u>Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders</u>, 424 (4th ed.1994) (<u>quoted in Bottrell</u>, 103 Wn. App. at 717).

Because PTSD is a recognized mental disorder that is beyond the understanding of ordinary laypersons, when the State presents evidence of PTSD to prove the elements of a crime, the State must also present expert testimony to explain the disorder to the jury and elucidate how it is related to the crime. ER 702; <u>Green</u>, 182 Wn. App. at 146; <u>Bottrell</u>, 103 Wn. App. at 717; <u>Randolph</u>, 590 F.2d at 846-47.

Here, the State presented extensive testimony of M.L.'s purported symptoms of PTSD as evidence to prove that the alleged abuse actually occurred. But the trial court did not require the State to present expert testimony to explain any nexus between M.L.'s purported symptoms and the alleged offenses. As ordinary lay people, the jurors were not capable of understanding how or why a person might experience symptoms of PTSD long after the underlying trauma

had ended. The trial court's ruling refusing to require the State to provide an expert to explain this mental disorder to the jury and how it related to the crime is contrary to the above authorities. The court therefore abused its discretion.

This Court should grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals' opinion affirming the trial court's ruling. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

2. This Court should grant review because the offender score is miscalculated.

In his statement of additional grounds for review, Turner argued his offender score was miscalculated. Turner argued the court did not find he had two prior convictions that count in the offender score and it is not reflected on the judgment and sentence. He argued his offender score was only four.

The judgment and sentence states the offender score is five. CP 29. The base score for the two current offenses is three. Slip Op. at 11. Therefore, the State was required to prove that Turner had prior felony convictions that resulted in an offender score of five. Yet the judgment and sentence states the criminal history includes only one prior felony conviction—for VUCSA from 1996. CP 29.

At sentencing the State provided a judgment and sentence from

1993 for a felony VUCSA conviction. CP 4. The State also provided a

judgment and sentence from 1996 for a felony VUCSA conviction. CP

11.

Yet the trial court did not find expressly find the State had met

its burden to prove the prior conviction from 1993. See CP 29;

8/21/15RP 23-24,

This Court should grant review and remand for resentencing

based upon an offender score of four.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons stated, this Court should grant review and reverse

the Court of Appeals.

Respectfully submitted this 24th day of March, 2017.

MAUREEN M. CYR (WSBA 28724)

Washington Appellate Project - 91052

Attorneys for Appellant



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,	No. 73904-2-I
Respondent,	DIVISION ONE
V.	27
CLIFTON EUGENE TURNER,) UNPUBLISHED 🙃
Appellant.) FILED: <u>February 27, 2017</u>

Cox, J. – Clifton Turner appeals his judgment and sentence based on convictions of two counts of second degree child molestation and one count of fourth degree assault. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of the victim's emotional and psychological trauma following the offenses without supporting expert testimony. Two of the several sentencing conditions are improper: substance abuse counselling and submitting to Breathalyzer tests. The criminal history in the judgment and sentence fails to list two prior convictions used to compute the correct offender score of five.

Appellate costs shall not be awarded to the State. We affirm in part, vacate in part, and remand with instructions.

The victim in this case is M. Turner met M.'s mother, L., when they were both patients in drug treatment. Two and a half years later, Turner and L. moved in together. M. would visit often.

TRAUMA EVIDENCE

Turner argues the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of M.'s behavior following the offenses without supporting expert testimony linking her behavior to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). We disagree.

We review for abuse of discretion a trial court's decision to admit evidence.¹ A trial court abuses its discretion when its ruling is manifestly unreasonable or it bases its decision on "untenable grounds or reasons."²

The parties have couched their argument in the context of ER 702, which governs the admission of expert opinion testimony. ER 702 allows the admission of expert testimony where it will help the trier of fact understand evidence or facts at issue. But no expert opinion was presented in this case.

Rather the parties contest the admission of M.'s alleged opinion testimony. ER 701 governs our analysis of this testimony.

That rule provides for the admission of lay opinion testimony when it is "(a) rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) helpful to a clear understanding of the witness'[s] testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge."

There is no question that M.'s testimony was based on her own perception. She testified to her own behavior of self-harm and substance usage. Similarly, there is no question that such testimony was helpful to understanding

¹ State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 419, 269 P.3d 207 (2012).

² Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 185 Wn.2d 270, 277, 372 P.3d 97 (2016).

her relevant experience of sexual abuse, a central determination of fact in this case.

Thus, the parties' dispute focuses on whether M.'s testimony was based on specialized knowledge.

In <u>State v. Black</u>, the supreme court explained that a lay witness may testify to her own experience of trauma without supportive expert testimony.³ In that case, the court reversed Michael Black's conviction because the trial court had abused its discretion in admitting expert testimony about rape trauma syndrome.⁴ The relevant expert, a counselor who had counseled the alleged victim for several months, testified that there was "a specific profile for rape victims and [the victim] fits in."⁵

On review, the supreme court found this testimony to be scientifically unreliable because "there is no 'typical' response to rape." The counselor's profiling technique was "not the type of scientific test that reliably determines whether a rape has occurred, as the characteristic symptoms may follow any psychologically traumatic [experience]."

³ 109 Wn.2d 336, 349, 745 P.2d 12 (1987).

⁴ <u>ld.</u> at 350.

⁵ <u>Id.</u> at 339 (emphasis omitted).

⁶ ld. at 343.

⁷ <u>Id.</u> at 348.

The supreme court further concluded such testimony was not helpful to the trier of fact because it was overly prejudicial.⁸ Specifically, the expert had testified that the alleged victim fit the profile of rape victims, improperly suggesting the guilt of the defendant.⁹

But the court clarified that it did:

not imply, of course, that evidence of emotional or psychological trauma suffered by a complainant after an alleged rape is inadmissible in a rape prosecution. The State is free to offer lay testimony on these matters, and the jury is free to evaluate it as it would any other evidence. We simply hold that the State may not introduce expert testimony which purports to scientifically prove that an alleged rape victim is suffering from rape trauma syndrome.^[10]

Here, the trial court admitted M.'s testimony concerning certain changes in her behavior. It concluded that M. could "testify to her own behavior and her own feelings." But it instructed the State not to ask questions that would require a medical conclusion. Nothing in the record suggests the State violated this instruction. The jury was fully capable of deciding whether the changes to M.'s behavior arose in response to the past trauma of this molestation without expert testimony. There was no abuse of discretion in admitting M.'s testimony.

Turner points to numerous cases that upheld the admission of expert testimony connecting a person's response to previous trauma when the response

⁸ <u>Id.</u> at 349.

⁹ ld.

¹⁰ ld.

might have seemed counterintuitive to the layperson.¹¹ These cases fail to establish that expert testimony is necessary rather than merely admissible under such circumstances. Additionally, the testimony in this case did not present any counterintuitive inference.

Here, the trial judge instructed the jurors that they could consider inferences from circumstantial evidence based on their "common sense and experience." Based on this instruction and the principle elucidated in <u>Black</u>, the jury could properly consider M.'s relevant testimony against the backdrop of their own experience.

SENTENCING CONDITIONS

Turner argues the trial court improperly imposed substance abuse treatment as a condition of community custody. We agree.

The trial court's sentencing authority depends on statute.¹² Generally, we review for abuse of discretion the imposition of sentencing requirements.¹³ But we review de novo that imposition when the trial court's statutory sentencing authority is challenged.¹⁴

¹¹ State v. Ciskie, 110 Wn.2d 263, 274, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988); State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 591, 597, 682 P.2d 312 (1984); State v. Green, 182 Wn. App. 133, 139, 328 P.3d 988 (2014); State v. Bottrell, 103 Wn. App. 706, 717, 14 P.3d 164 (2000).

¹² In re Pers. Restraint of Carle, 93 Wn.2d 31, 33, 604 P.2d 1293 (1980).

¹³ State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007).

¹⁴ <u>Id.</u>

The Sentencing Reform Act authorizes the trial court to impose certain prohibitions or affirmative conditions of community custody so long as they are "crime-related." A prohibition is "crime-related" when it "directly relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted." It "may [also] include a prohibition on the use or possession of alcohol or controlled substances if the court finds that any chemical dependency or substance abuse contributed to the offense."

When the trial court sentences the offender to community custody, RCW 9.94A.703(3)(c) authorizes it to require that the offender "[p]articipate in crime-related treatment or counseling services. RCW 9.94A.703(3)(d) also authorizes the trial court to require that the offender "[p]articipate in rehabilitative programs or otherwise perform affirmative conduct reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense, the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community." 19

But these two provisions present an ambiguity. A statute is ambiguous "if it can be reasonably interpreted in more than one way."²⁰ In this statute, it is unclear whether the rehabilitative programs that the trial court may impose must

¹⁵ RCW 9.94A.505(9).

¹⁶ RCW 9.94A.030(10).

¹⁷ RCW 9.94A.505(9).

¹⁸ RCW 9.94A.703(3)(c).

¹⁹ RCW 9.94A.703(3)(d).

²⁰ State v. Watson, 146 Wn.2d 947, 955, 51 P.3d 66 (2002).

be "crime-related" or "reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense, the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community." Thus, the trial court could impose such programs even if not "crime-related," despite other clear text in the statute.

Division Two of this court addressed these provisions in <u>State v. Jones</u>. ²¹ The court examined the identical statutory precursors to what are now RCW 9.94A.703(3)(c) and (d). ²² It cited the rule requiring that statutes be construed to avoid rendering any provision superfluous. ²³ It explained that subsection (c), allowing the court to order such services so long as they are crime-related, would be rendered superfluous if subsection (d) were construed to allow courts to order substance counselling or treatment without showing that the need for such services was "crime-related." ²⁴ Thus, the court concluded that a trial court could impose treatment programs under subsection (d) "only if the evidence shows that [substance use] contributed to the offense." ²⁵ We agree with that reasoning.

Here, the trial court imposed a condition requiring that Turner participate in "substance abuse treatment as directed by the supervising Community Corrections Officer." But no evidence in the record shows that either alcohol or drugs contributed to these offenses.

²¹ 118 Wn. App. 199, 76 P.3d 258 (2003).

²² Id. at 207-08.

²³ <u>Id.</u> at 208.

²⁴ ld.

²⁵ ld.

On this record, the trial court lacked authority to impose community custody condition 15, requiring that Turner participate in substance abuse counselling. We vacate this condition and direct that it be stricken on remand.

The State argues that even if RCW 9.94A.703(c) is superfluous, to harmonize this superfluity as <u>Jones</u> did, would render superfluous the language in RCW 9.94A.703(d) concerning "the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community." This argument is not convincing.

Subsection (c) requires the trial court to make a specific conclusion before it orders that a defendant participate in counselling or treatment services. This requirement avoids coercing offenders to undergo rehabilitation unrelated to their crimes. Subsection (d), by contrast, allows the court to order other rehabilitative programs "reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense, the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community."

Because substance abuse treatment is at issue, subsection (c) controls and dictates that such services must be crime-related. This case does not meet the requirements of the statute and a fair reading of subsection (d) does not require a different result.

Turner also argues that the court erred in imposing monitoring conditions, requiring him to participate in urinalysis, polygraph, and Breathalyzer tests. We agree in part.

A sentencing court may require that an offender submit to tests to monitor compliance with the other valid conditions of community custody.²⁶ Specifically,

²⁶ State v. Riles, 135 Wn.2d 326, 342-43, 957 P.2d 655 (1998).

the supreme court has recognized the investigative utility of polygraph tests in monitoring general compliance with sentencing conditions.²⁷

Here, the trial court imposed three monitoring conditions. Of these, the court acted within its discretion in requiring that Turner submit to polygraph testing. But the court erred in imposing the Breathalyzer requirement because any alcohol-related condition it was imposed to monitor was not crime-related.

But the trial court acted within its discretion in imposing the urinalysis requirement. RCW 9.94A.703 divides the available conditions on community custody into three categories. Some are mandatory, which the court must impose.²⁸ Some are discretionary, such as those discussed above.²⁹ The rest are waivable and imposed, unless the trial court affirmatively waives them.³⁰ This last category includes the requirement that a defendant "[r]efrain from possessing or consuming controlled substances except pursuant to lawfully issued prescriptions."³¹

Here, the trial court did not waive the above condition. It was thus imposed. The condition that Turner submit to urinallysis testing was proper to monitor whether he was consuming controlled substances.

²⁷ <u>Id.</u>

²⁸ RCW 9.94A.703(1).

²⁹ RCW 9.94A.703(3).

³⁰ RCW 9.94A.703(2).

³¹ RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c).

Thus, we hold that the trial court was without authority to impose community custody condition 15 and the Breathalyzer component of condition 16. It did not abuse its discretion in imposing the other challenged conditions.

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS

Turner argues that the trial court miscalculated his offender score for sentencing purposes in his Statement of Additional Grounds pursuant to RAP 10.10. We hold that the trial court properly determined his offender score as five, but remand with directions that the trial court correct the judgment and sentence to correctly reflect the criminal history used to calculate that score.

RCW 9.94A.525(17) provides the framework for calculating an offender score when the current crime is a sex crime. All current sex crimes count as three. Turner concedes the base score is a three.

The RCW 9.94A.525(17) framework then directs the sentencing court's consideration to RCW 9.94A.525(7)-(9). The court selects one of those subsections based on whether the current offense was nonviolent, violent, or seriously violent. The two felony convictions in this case were child molestation in the second degree. The statute defining that offense does not characterize it as violent.³² Thus, RCW 9.94A.525(7) provides the appropriate arithmetic for calculating the score here. Under that provision, we add one point for each prior adult felony conviction.

³² RCW 9A.44.086.

Here, counsel for Turner properly conceded below that the offender score for his current offenses totaled three. At the sentencing hearing, the trial court had before it certified copies of two prior judgment and sentences for controlled substance felonies. The first of these was entered on October 5, 1993. The second was entered on February 9, 1996. Both serve as qualifying felonies that would add one point each to Turner's current offender score, provided neither "washed."

Pursuant RCW 9.94A.525(2)(b), Class B prior felony convictions

shall not be included in the offender score, if since the last date of release from confinement . . . pursuant to a felony conviction, if any, or entry of judgment and sentence, the offender had spent ten consecutive years in the community without committing any crime that subsequently results in a conviction.^[33]

The issue is whether the two prior felony convictions washed due to Turner spending ten consecutive years in the community being crime free. The certified copy of a 2004 controlled substances conviction proved that he did not meet this test. Thus, the two prior convictions, and only those convictions, were properly considered for inclusion in the offender score: five.

The judgment and sentence does not correctly reflect both prior convictions on which basis the offender score of five was calculated.

Accordingly, we vacate this judgment and sentence to that extent only and direct the trial court on remand to modify the document accordingly to include the correct prior convictions.

^{33 (}Emphasis added.)

COSTS

Turner argues that this court should decline to award the State appellate costs should he not prevail. We agree.

RCW 10.73.160(1) gives appellate courts discretion to decline to impose appellate costs on appeal.³⁴ Under <u>State v. Sinclair</u>, there is a presumption that indigency continues unless the record shows otherwise.³⁵

Here, the trial court found at sentencing that Turner is indigent. Nothing in this record overcomes this presumption.

The State counters that the record fails to indicate whether Turner will be unable to pay in the future. This argument is insufficient to overcome the presumption stated in <u>Sinclair</u>. The State also requests that we impose costs because Turner did not litigate this matter for the public's benefit. This argument also fails to overcome the presumption stated in <u>Sinclair</u>. An award to the State for appellate costs is inappropriate under these circumstances.

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