RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

NO. 94305-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CLIFTON E. TURNER,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant (petitioner), Clifton Turner, met L. when they were both in inpatient drug treatment. 3 RP 344, 347. L. had two daughters: A. (born 7/96) and M. (born 7/98). Because of L.'s drug and alcohol abuse, A. and M. lived most of their lives with their aunt D. 3 RP 288.

About 2½ years after they met, the defendant and L. began living together. During some period, M. visited them about every other weekend. 2 RP 82. M. testified that the defendant sexually abused her on several occasions. The last incident occurred in spring, 2012. 2 RP 71-91. M. later reported the abuse to her sister, who told her aunt. 2 RP 95, 214-15. The aunt, in turn, told their mother, who took M. to the police. 3 RP 300; 2 RP 100. The first report to police occurred on January 24, 2013. 3 RP 270.

At trial, both M. and her aunt testified about changes in her behavior that began during her sophomore year at school, which was the school year after she disclosed the abuse. She began using marijuana and drinking alcohol almost every day. She also became depressed and suicidal. She was burning and cutting herself. In describing these events, the witnesses did not

characterize them as symptoms of any mental disorder. 2 RP 119-20; 3 RP 303-05.

In his trial testimony, the defendant denied abusing M. 3 RP 368-75. He also testified concerning the intensity of his efforts to maintain his sobriety. He generally attended three NA or AA meetings a week. 3 RP 344. Every day, he spent at least an hour reading self-help or recovery books. 3 RP 345. He believed that being around someone who was using drugs "would put my life in jeopardy." 3 RP 350.

The jury found the defendant guilty of two counts of second degree child molestation. CP 72-78. At sentencing, the State introduced certified documents showing that the defendant had two prior convictions. 1 CP 4-9, 11-17. The court ruled that these documents provided sufficient evidence of the defendant's criminal history. These convictions led to offender scores of 5 on each count. Sent. RP 23-24. The Judgment and Sentence listed offender scores of 5, with sentences near the top end of the range for that offender score. The Judgment, however, only listed one of the two prior criminal convictions. CP 29-30.

The court also imposed 36 months of community custody.

CP 31. The conditions of community custody included the following:

"Participate in substance abuse treatment as directed by the supervising Community Corrections Officer." CP 41. No objection to this condition was raised at sentencing. Sent. RP 29.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction. Slip op. at 3-5. The court held, however, that the trial court lacked the authority to require substance abuse treatment. Slip op. at 6-11. The Court also ordered the trial court to modify the judgment to include the defendant's correct prior convictions. Slip op. at 11-12.

The defendant is now asking this court to review the portions of the decision that affirmed the conviction and upheld the computation of the sentence range. The State asks the court to review the portions of the decision that overturned the sentencing condition.

V. ARGUMENT WITH RESPECT TO PETITIONER'S ISSUE

A. THIS COURT HAS ALREADY UPHELD THE ADMISSBILITY OF LAY TESTIMONY CONCERNING TRAUMA SUFFERED BY THE VICTIM OF SEXUAL ABUSE.

At trial, the State introduced evidence concerning changes in the victim's behavior following the abuse. The petitioner argues that this evidence was inadmissible without supporting expert testimony. As the Court of Appeals recognized, this argument is contrary to State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). Slip op. at 4-6. The petition for review does not even mention Black.

In <u>Black</u>, the State offered expert testimony on "rape trauma syndrome." That is, the State sought to establish that certain emotional and behavioral symptoms indicated that the person had been raped. <u>Black</u>, 109 Wn.2d at 342. This court held that such testimony was scientifically unreliable and unduly prejudicial. <u>Id.</u> at 348. Changing the label to "post-traumatic stress disorder" would not make the testimony admissible. <u>Id.</u> at 349.

Although expert testimony on this subject is inadmissible, lay testimony is admissible:

We do not imply, of course, that evidence of emotional or psychological trauma suffered by a complainant after an alleged rape is inadmissible in a rape prosecution. The State is free to offer lay testimony on these matters, and the jury is free to evaluate it as it would any other evidence.

ld.

In the present case, the petitioner is claiming that the State was required to do what <u>Black</u> forbids: offer expert testimony of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) to prove that the victim had been subject to abuse. Absent such expert testimony, the petitioner claims that the State is *forbidden* from doing what <u>Black</u> allows:

offer lay testimony concerning the trauma suffered by an abuse victim. The petitioner offers no reason, however, why <u>Black</u> should be overruled. As a result, this issue does not warrant review.

B. THE CORRECTION OF A SCRIVENER'S ERROR DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW.

The petitioner also asks this court to review the calculation of the offender score. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the judgment in this case failed to reflect a conviction that was found by the trial court. The court remanded the case for correction of that error. Slip op. at 11-12. The petitioner does not explain why this mistake in the sentencing document warrants review.

VI. ARGUMENT WITH RESPECT TO RESPONDENT'S ISSUE

SINCE THE COURT OF APPEALS ELIMINATED SENTENCING AUTHORITY THAT WAS CLEARLY GRANTED BY THE LEGISLATURE, ITS DECISION SHOULD BE REVIEWED BY THIS COURT.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court improperly imposed a sentencing condition. Slip op. at 6-11. This holding creates an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

RCW 9.94A.703(3) gives sentencing courts broad authority to impose conditions of community custody:

As part of any term of community custody, the court may order an offender to:

. . .

(d) Participate in rehabilitative programs or otherwise perform affirmative conduct reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense, the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community...

The statute authorizes the court to require participation in rehabilitative program if they are related to "the circumstances of the offense, the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community." If a program is related to "the offender's risk of reoffending," it is not necessary that it also be related to "the circumstances of the offense." Here, the defendant's own testimony showed that he was at grave risk of resuming illegal drug use if he did not continue to participate in drug abuse treatment activities. 3 RP 344-45. Based on this testimony, the sentencing court could reasonably conclude that drug treatment was "reasonably related to ... the offender's risk of reoffending." The requirement was therefore justified whether or not it was "crime-related."

Notwithstanding the clear language of this provision, a prior Court of Appeals decision limited the statutory provision to rehabilitative programs that are "crime-related." State v. Jones, 118 Wn. App. 199, 208, 76 P.3d 258, 262 (2003). The court looked at a separate provision of the same statute, which authorizes sentencing courts to require offenders to "[p]articipate in crime-

related treatment or counseling services." Former 9.94A.700(5)(c) (now codified as RCW 9.94A.703(3)(c)). The court reasoned as follows:

If reasonably possible, [the "rehabilitative programs" must be harmonized with provision11 9.94A.700(5)(c), so that no part of either statute is rendered superfluous. If we were to characterize alcohol counseling as "affirmative conduct reasonably related to the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community," with or without evidence that alcohol had contributed to the offense, we would negate and render superfluous RCW 9.94A.700(5)(c)'s requirement that such counseling be "crime-related." Accordingly, we hold that alcohol counseling "reasonably relates" to the offender's risk of reoffending, and to the safety of the community, only if the evidence shows that alcohol contributed to the offense.

<u>State v. Jones</u>, 118 Wn. App. 199, 208, 76 P.3d 258 (2003) (citations omitted).

In the present case, the State's brief pointed out two fundamental flaws in this reasoning. First, the rule against rendering a portion of a statute superfluous is a maxim of statutory construction. See Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). If a statute is unambiguous, application of such maxims is unwarranted. State v.

¹ At the time, this provision was codified as former RCW 9.94A.715(2)(b). The language of the provision was identical to the current RCW 9.94A.700(3)(d).

Watson, 146 Wn.2d 947, 955, 51 P.3d 66 (2002). There is no ambiguity in the statutory authorization to require rehabilitative programs that are "reasonably related to ... the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community."

Second, the analysis of <u>Jones</u> simply trades one superfluity for another. Under <u>Jones</u>, the authorization to require "crime-related treatment or counseling" is not superfluous – but the authorization for "rehabilitative programs that are reasonably related to … the offender's risk of reoffending" *is* superfluous. That provision authorizes nothing that does not also fall under the authorization for programs that are "reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense."

In responding to these arguments, the Court of Appeals first held that the cumulative effect of the two statutory provisions created an ambiguity. Slip op. at 7-8. The Court then held that the "rehabilitative programs" provision was limited to programs other than counselling or treatment or counselling. Slip op. at 9. The court did not suggest what kind of programs these might be. Almost all rehabilitative programs involve some form of treatment or counselling. If there are any that do not, they are rare. The decision of the Court of Appeals virtually eliminates the authority of

sentencing courts to require participation in rehabilitative programs that are intended to minimize the risk of re-offense or protect community safety.

This conclusion is particularly disturbing in view of a statutory grant to authority to the Department of Corrections (DOC). When a person is serving a period of community custody under supervision of DOC, it "may require the offender to participate in rehabilitative programs." RCW 9.94A.704(4). If such a requirement is challenged by the offender, it "shall remain in effect unless the reviewing officer finds that it is not reasonably related to the crime of conviction, the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community." RCW 9.94A.704(10)(a). Thus, the statute gives authority to the sentencing court and DOC in almost identical language. But under existing case law, the sentencing court's authority is limited to crime-related conditions, while DOC's authority is not. This distinction makes no sense.

The Court of Appeals has deprived sentencing courts of authority that the Legislature conferred in clear language. In doing so, it has prevented courts from imposing requirements that may be clearly necessary to protect the community or reduce the risk of re-

offense. Whether or not this court grants the Petition for Review, it should grant review of this issue.

VII. CONCLUSION

The defendant's Petition for Review should be denied. This court should grant review of the issue designated in this Answer. With regard to this issue, the Court of Appeals should be reversed. The sentencing requirements imposed by the trial court should be reinstated.